MAR 2 1 2014

Supreme Court No. <u>90144</u>-9 Court of Appeals No. 68329-2-I

### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Should an attorney's hard work--resulting in fulfillment of her contract with her clients-- be superseded by another lawyer's last minute change in the fee arrangements, which violated RPC 1.5(e)(1)?

2. Should a client be able to obtain redress for her valid causes of action where her attorney gives up without legal justification or her consent?

a. Does Division One's ruling--that Ms. Ferguson was bound by her attorney's abandonment of two claims-- conflict with the Washington rule set forth in *Graves v*. *P.J. Taggares Co.*, 94 Wash.2d 298 (1980)?

b. Does Division One's decision here conflict with this Court's decision in *Mazon v. Krafchick*, 158 Wash.2d 440 (2006) and Division Two's decision in *Hoglund v. Meeks*, 139 Wash.App. 854 (2007)?

3. In rejecting Ms. Ferguson's challenge to summary judgment, did Division One err by resolving disputed factual issues in favor of the moving party, Teller?

4. Under Ms. Ferguson's evidence, did the later Teller fee agreement fail for lack of consideration?

## D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

(1) "Sandra Ferguson, the principal of The Ferguson Firm, PLLC, spent substantial time and effort developing an employment discrimination case without the assistance of cocounsel." Opinion of the Court of Appeals (hereinafter "Opinion"), Appendix page A-1 (emphasis added). Ms. Ferguson had fully-executed contingent-fee retainer agreements with her four clients, the plaintiffs in the employment discrimination case. Opinion, Appendix page A-2. She achieved a 6-figure settlement offer and then a 7-figure settlement offer in February, 2011, before she took a 90-day leave from their case to observe a suspension.<sup>3</sup> CP 84, 327-34, 372-3.

(2) In November, 2010, prior to her leave, Ms. Ferguson arranged for another attorney, respondent Teller, to get involved as co-counsel, if the case had to proceed to trial

3

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  Ferguson's suspension was entirely unrelated to her representation of the clients in the employment discrimination case.

and only if he was willing to commit to advancing 100% of the litigation costs. CP 203, 244, 316-20; 266-69. This was understood by Ferguson and Teller to mean that Teller would advance substantial costs for at least three expert witnesses needed to establish liability and damages on Ferguson's clients' disparate impact claims. CP 285, 366. Teller agreed. CP 203, 244, 266-69, 285, 3427, 366. Although Ms. Ferguson had done all the work in the case, Teller prepared a fee agreement that gave him 50% of the fees. Ms. Ferguson rejected the first draft, and did not sign the second draft, which also did not confirm the consideration. CP 1126-28. No fee-sharing agreement was ever signed by Ferguson or Teller. CP 133-34. "[The two attorneys] dispute what agreement, if any, was ultimately reached." Opinion, Appendix page A-1 (emphasis added).

In April, 2011, during the period of Ms. Ferguson's suspension, the settlement efforts were completed. CP 80-91, 337,38. The settlement generated an earned contingency fee of \$530,107.58. CP 124. Teller claimed the unsigned 50-50 document entitled him to a disproportionate fee, relative to his work. Ferguson asserted that Teller's fee should be based on quantum meruit. CP 384-5. The instant lawsuit was filed by Ms. Ferguson to obtain the fee she had earned through her

substantial time and effort in the underlying discrimination case. CP 80-91, 389.

Her lawsuit was filed by attorney Brian Waid. He erroneously folded on Ms. Ferguson's breach of contract claim--which he himself had placed in the complaint just a few months prior. CP 390-92 (RPC 10/28/2011). Waid's concession also led to the erroneous dismissal of Ms. Ferguson's negligent misrepresentation claim against Teller. *See Opinion*, Appendix page A-6. See also, CP 5-6.

The trial court subsequently granted Teller's motion for summary judgment, ruling that there was an express contract between the lawyers for a 50/50 split of the fees. *Opinion*, Appendix page A-7. This appeal followed.

### E. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED</u>

1. <u>Issue One:</u> <u>Under Washington Law, Ms.</u> <u>Ferguson's Hard Work--Resulting In Fulfillment Of Her</u> <u>Contract With Her Clients—Is Not Superseded By Another</u> <u>Lawyer's Last Minute, Disputed Change In The Fee</u> <u>Arrangements--Arrangements Which Violated RPC 1.5(e)(1).</u>

The decision of the Division One panel is in conflict with decisions of the Supreme Court, the Court of Appeals, and the

Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC). Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(4).

# a. <u>Sandra Ferguson substantially performed and is</u> <u>entitled to her earned contingency fee.</u>

Ferguson had fully-executed "Flat а written Fee/Contingency Fee Agreement" with each of her employment discrimination clients. CP 108-114. Ferguson substantially performed her obligations under those contracts. She achieved a six-figure settlement offer on October 28, 2011, and then achieved a seven-figure settlement offer on February 2, 2012 an offer close to the final settlement figure. CP 372-73. She is entitled to enforce her contract. Taylor v. Shigaki, 84 Wash. App. 723, 930 P.2d 340, 343(1997) (an attorney can enforce a contingency fee agreement if he/she is fired or withdraws after "substantially" performing, even if the client rejects the offer procured by the attorney).

Washington courts have recognized that an attorney is entitled to her contingency fee where she is discharged after "substantially performing" the duties owed to a client. E.g., *Barr v. Day*, 124 Wash.2d 318, 329, 879 P.2d 912 (1994); *Ramey v. Graves*, 112 Wash. 88 at 92, 191 P. 801(1920); *Ross v. Scannell*, 97 Wash.2d 598, 609, 647 P.2d 1004 (1982). "A discharged attorney has substantially performed his or her duties when the attorney's efforts make a settlement 'practically certain' even if the settlement occurs after the client fires the attorney." *Taylor v. Shigaki*, 84 Wash.App. 723, 729, 930 P.2d 340, 343 (Div. 1, 1997); *see also, Barrett v. Freise*, 119 Wash. App. 823, 846, 82 P.3d 1179 (Div. 1 2003); *Goncharuk v. Barrong*, 132 Wash. App. 745, 749 (Div. 3, 2006). This rule is intended to prevent clients, who have sole control over whether to accept or reject a settlement offer, from firing their attorneys immediately before the contingency occurs in order to avoid paying a contingency fee. *Barr, supra*, 124 Wash.2d at 329.

Ferguson substantially performed under the contingency fee agreements with her clients. Surely, if Ferguson's clients cannot be unjustly enriched by firing Ferguson after she has substantially performed under her contingency fee agreement, then another lawyer should not be unjustly enriched just because Ferguson had to withdraw for cause after she devoted "substantial time and effort" (Opinion, Appendix page A-1) which brought the case to the brink of settlement. As a result of Division One's decision, Teller is being allowed to do what Sandra Ferguson's clients could not do. This is bad policy. It conflicts with *Barr*, *Ross*, and *Taylor*.<sup>4</sup>

Taylor v. Shigaki entitles Ms. Ferguson to one-third of the seven-figure settlement offer the clients rejected on February 2, 2011, just one day before Ferguson withdrew. An additional one-third of the \$250,000.00 difference between the February and April settlement offers (\$82,500.00) is subject to the quantum meruit rule. The division of that amount, based on quantum meruit, should be determined by the trial court on remand.

b. <u>The later non-proportional fee agreement Teller</u> <u>drafted violates RPC 1.5(e)(1),(2)</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The appeals court's only reason for rejecting the wellestablished Washington substantial performance rule is that Ms. Ferguson supposedly was not entitled to any protection from Teller. *Opinion*, Appendix page A-17. Division One's approach fails to recognize the strong policy reasons supporting the *Barr/Ross/Shigaki* rule. Ms. Ferguson worked hard. She substantially performed her contingency contracts. She should not be deprived of the fruits of her labor simply because the interloper is another attorney rather than a client.

Teller's non-proportional fee agreement violated RPC 1.5(e)(1), for three reasons. *First*, neither Ms. Ferguson nor Teller signed it. Division One claims that Ms. Ferguson was bound by a written agreement she did not sign. *Opinion*, Appendix page A-18. This conflicts with basic contract law and RPC 1.5(e)(1)(ii)'s requirement that the agreement be confirmed in writing. One confirms a written agreement by signing it.

Second, Teller's retainer agreement does not meet the requirements of RPC 1.5(e)(1) because it did not fully disclose to the clients, in writing, Teller's duty to pay 100% of their litigation costs. This was an essential element of the arrangement to which the clients had to agree. RPC 1.5(e)(1)(ii). Comment [5] provides "An agreement may not be made whose terms might induce the lawyer improperly to curtail services for the client or perform them in a way contrary to the client's interest." Teller had much to gain by an immediate settlement, with no prior investment in the case and his standing commitment to advance the future substantial litigation costs. The clients were entitled to have Teller's consideration confirmed in writing when weighing Teller's advice to settle before their other attorney returned; he had them to himself after Ms. Ferguson's withdrawal from the case. Division One's decision to the contrary creates bad policy and undermines the protections to clients afforded by the Rule.<sup>5</sup>

*Third*, non-proportional fee divisions are prohibited unless there is "joint responsibility" for the representation. RPC 1.5(e)(1)(i). Here, there was no joint responsibility supporting the Teller fee agreement because Ms. Ferguson had to withdraw. She no longer could represent the clients.

Moreover, Teller severed Ms. Ferguson from the case. He completed the settlement (which she had substantially achieved before her withdrawal) without her. He had the clients sign a final settlement agreement that would subject them to legal action and money damages if they *ever* talked with Ms. Ferguson about the settlement, even after she was readmitted. CP 358. This is the opposite of "joint responsibility".<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Division One's statement (*Opinion*, Appendix page A-18) that the rule does not require disclosure to the clients of Teller's obligation to pay substantial costs is incorrect. The clients must agree to the arrangement, as discussed above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Division One asserts that "joint responsibility" only means "legal liability to see that the client's work is competently performed." *Opinion*, Appendix page A-19. This language is apparently drawn from a WSBA advisory opinion discussing a prior version of the rule, RPC 1.5(e)(2). Currently,

The later Teller fee agreement violated RPC 1.5(e). It is against public policy and unenforceable. *Valley/50<sup>th</sup> Avenue*, *LLC v. Stewart*, 159 Wash.2d 736, 745-746, 153 P.3d 186 (2009).

This Court should grant review of Issue One and reverse the Court of Appeals.

2. <u>Issue Two</u>: <u>Sandra Ferguson Should Be Able To Obtain</u> <u>Redress For Her Valid Causes Of Action Which Her Attorney</u> <u>Gave Up Without Legal Justification Or Her Consent.</u>

An attorney cannot waive a substantial right of his client without his client's consent. The claims waived by Ms. Ferguson's attorney had merit. The Division One panel's decision to the contrary conflicts with two decisions of this

the Rule in fact requires "joint responsibility for the representation as a whole." This includes "financial and ethical responsibility for the representation as if the lawyers were associated in a partnership." Comment (7) (Emphasis added). Division One's apparent recasting of the "joint responsibility" requirement into some kind of a surety-like provision conflicts with the plain language of the Rule and the Comment.

Court. Review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4).

a. <u>This Court Should Reaffirm The Rule Of Graves v.</u> <u>Taggares, 94 Wash.2d 298 (1980)</u>.

The complaint prepared, signed and filed by Ms. Ferguson's attorney, Brian Waid, included claims for breach of contract and negligent misrepresentation. At a hearing a few months later, facing a motion for judgment on the pleadings, he conceded the breach of contract claim. This also led to dismissal of the negligent misrepresentation claim. Ms. Ferguson challenges the concession and dismissal as erroneous. *See Opinion*, Appendix pages A-9, A-10.

Division One decided that Ms. Ferguson was bound by her lawyer's concession "by allowing him to appear as her representative and by refusing to contest his concession in the trial court." *Opinion*, Appendix page A-9.<sup>7</sup> The Court of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> There is no affirmative "refusal" in the record. Ms. Ferguson objected to the concession. Before erroneously conceding her claim, Mr. Waid advised the court that he was very familiar with the *Mazon* case, having "lectured" on it. (RP 10/28/2011).

Appeals' decision conflicts with Washington law as set forth by this Court:

The general rule regarding an attorney's authority to bind his client to stipulations or compromises in the conduct of litigation is tersely stated in 30 A.L.R.2d 944, s 3 (1953): "an attorney is without authority to surrender a substantial right of a client unless special authority from his client has been granted him to do so." This rule is supported by the many cases listed in the A.L.R. annotation as well as many cases from this jurisdiction. [citations omitted].

*Graves v. P.J.Taggares Co.*, 94 Wash.2d 298, 303, 616 P.2d 1223 (1980). Ms. Ferguson's right to have a jury trial on the breach of contract and misrepresentation claims is a substantial right. The attorney, who drafted and filed these claims himself, did not have special authority granted from his client to concede.

Division One's decision here conflicts with *Graves* and other Washington cases. *Rivers v. Wash. State Conference of Mason Contractors*, 145 Wash.2d 674, 679 (2002), cited by the Division One panel, does not deal with this issue. The *Rivers* language cited (*Opinion*, Appendix page A-9) is dicta. A client is not automatically bound by whatever her attorney does.

# b. <u>The Breach And Misrepresentation Claims Have</u> <u>Merit</u>.

Ferguson filed its lawsuit against Teller to recover its lawful share of an actual earned fee. The attorneys' fees here resulted from the successful prosecution of Ms. Ferguson's employment discrimination clients' claims.

Ferguson and Teller dispute the existence and/or the material terms of a co-counsel contract. *Opinion*, Appendix, page A-1. Teller alleges that a contract was formed and requires Ferguson to share the attorney-fee with him in a manner disproportionate to the legal services Teller provided. Ferguson denies a co-counsel contract was formed and asserts that, even if a contract was formed, Teller did not perform; therefore, Ferguson is excused from performance.

Ferguson simply asks for a determination on the legal questions: (1) Was a contract formed for the non-proportional division of the attorney fee? (2) If so, is the contract enforceable? *Mazon v. Krafchick*, 158 Wash.2d 440, 144 P.3d

1168 (2006) does not bar the resolution of these issues and does not require dismissal of Ferguson's breach of contract and negligent misrepresentation claims--contrary to Division One (*see Opinion*, Appendix, page 10).

In Hoglund v. Meeks, 139 Wash. App. 854, 170 P.3d 37 (2007), the Court of Appeals expressly held that *Mazon* is only a bar to the recovery of co-counsel's lawsuit to recover *prospective* fees; not actual earned fees. *Hoglund's* facts are strikingly similar to the facts in this case. The Division One panel's decision here conflicts with *Mazon* and *Hoglund*.

This Court should grant review of Issue Two and reverse the Court of Appeals.

3. <u>Issue Three</u> <u>In Rejecting Ms. Ferguson's</u> <u>Challenge To Summary Judgment, Division One Erred By</u> <u>Resolving Disputed Factual Issues In Favor Of The Moving</u> <u>Party, Teller.</u>

In this case, genuine disputes of material fact are determinative of the ultimate issues: (a) contract formation, and (b) the material terms and the meaning the parties assigned to words. *See Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wash.2d 657, 667-68, 801

P.2d 222 (1990) ("context rule"). Five genuine disputes of material fact were improperly resolved by the trial court and Division One on summary judgment even though Ferguson's position is supported by evidence in the record below. CP 365-409. The decision here conflicts with *Berg*.

The five areas of genuine dispute are: (a) The lower court disregarded Ferguson's evidence that she rejected the draft retainer agreement Teller presented to her clients. (b) The court disregarded Ferguson's evidence that Teller knew she had another attorney to handle the case in the event of her suspension. (c) The court improperly disregarded evidence that Ferguson and Teller intended to negotiate a separate written co-counsel agreement. (d) The court improperly decided the ultimate issue when it held that Teller substantially performed under the contract. (e) Even after Teller's alleged "contract" was signed by the clients, the attorneys' words and conduct establish that there was no fee-sharing contract.

This Court should grant review of Issue Three under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and reverse the Court of Appeals.

4. <u>Issue Four:</u> <u>Under Ms. Ferguson's Evidence,</u> <u>The Later Teller Fee Agreement Fails For Lack Of</u> <u>Consideration.</u> Teller was only allowed into the case as Ferguson's cocounsel because he stated that he was willing to commit his firm to advancing 100% of the litigation costs. This was understood by Ferguson and Teller to mean that Teller would advance substantial costs for at least three expert witnesses needed to establish liability and damages on Ferguson's clients' disparate impact claims. Teller agreed to this.

The trial court's order on summary judgment states that "Teller lived up to his end of the bargain when he advanced costs....". CP 43. The courts do not give effect to interpretations that render contract obligations illusory. *Taylor v. Shigaki*, 84 Wash.App at 730. The trial court's order assumes that "litigation costs" had no definite, shared meaning. If that is true, then Teller's promise to advance costs was illusory. The contract fails for lack of consideration.

Its illusory nature is illustrated by the trial court's order. It implies that, whether Teller's firm paid \$50.00 for photocopies or \$100,000.00 for expert witness fees, he performed under the "contract" and was entitled to 50% of the fee. And yet, the parties discussed whether Teller even had an obligation to remain on the case. *See Opinion*, Appendix page A-4.

17

As a matter of law, if the "contract" Teller alleges entitles him to 50% of the fee, it fails for a lack of consideration because Teller's promise to carry "the bulk" of costs was illusory. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should reverse the lower court's finding that a contract was formed giving Teller 50% of the fees.

## F. <u>CONCLUSION.</u>

For the reasons stated, this Court should grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals, reverse the trial court's order on summary judgment and for dismissal of the breach and misrepresentation claims, and remand the case for trial. 1

DATED this the 20th day of March, 2014.

Respectfully submitted,

### MUENSTER & KOENIG

By: <u>S/John R. Muenster</u> JOHN R. MUENSTER Attorney at Law WSBA No. 6237 Of Attorneys for Appellant The Ferguson Firm, PLLC