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

III. ARGUMENT 

A. The Record Created in This Case Docs Not Allow For Review 
of Ferguson's Claims. 

Ferguson has not placed into the record her oppositions to Teller's 

CR 12(e) and CR 56 motions, nor has she placed in the record her motion 

for reconsideration of the trial court grant of summary judgment. This 

failure to create a record cannot be overlooked. In ReMarriage of 

Ochsner, 47 Wn. App. 520, 529, 736 P.2d 292, rvw. denied, 108 Wn.2d 

1027 (1987). This Court cannot determine how Ferguson opposed the two 

dispositive motions by Teller. On this ba..<>is alone, review must be denied. 

6 Ferguson waived the attorney-client privilege with her attacks on her 
lawyer. RPC 1.6(b)(5). While she objected to this evidence in a motion in 
the Court of Appeals, she is not seeking review of that in this Court. 
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("On review of an order granting ... summary judgment the appellate 

court will consider only ... issues called to the attention of the trial court." 

RAP 9.12). 

B. The Ferguson/Teller/Client Fee Agreement Governs The Fee 
Earned By The Lawyers. 

RPC 1.5(e)(l) allows lawyers to earn a contingent fee that is non-

propotiional to their services if the lawyers agree to joint responsibility for 

the representation, the clients agree in writing to the arrangement and the 

total fee is reasonable. 

It was on the basis of the 40% contingency found in the November, 

2011 agreement between Ferguson, Teller and their clients that Ferguson 

later claimed a lien on settlement proceeds. Ferguson admitted the 

existence of the agreement. The clients agreed to it and signed it. That 

the lawyers may not have signed it is irrelevant 7 as is the notion that a 

separate 'co-counsel' agreement was necessary - a contention for which no 

authority is provided. The terms of Teller's engagement- advancing costs 

and assuming joint responsibility - were agreed to by the clients and, 

7 Ferguson's claim at p. 9 of her Petition that the lawyers, as offerors, had 
to sign the fee agreement is simply wrong. There is no such requirement 
inRPC 1.5orin Washington law. See,e.g.,RCW 19.36.010,theparty"to 
be charged" must sign to comply with statute of frauds. Here, the clients 
were to be charged a portion of their recovery for attorneys' fees. In any 
event, there was full performance by all parties to the contract and that 
nullifies this claim. See, RESTATEMENT, SECOND, OF CONTRACTS,§ 145 
(1981). 
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where necessary, by the lawyers. Again, it was Ferguson who supplied 

the agreement to her clients for signature, encouraged an independent 

counsel review, and then when the dispute arose, relied upon it for her 

lien. 

Ferguson's contentions at pp. 6-8 of her Petition would require a 

court to ignore the necessity of obtaining client agreement to the unequal 

fee division sought by Ferguson which is required by RPC 1.5(e)(l)(ii). 

The clients are not parties to this litigation and there is no evidence that 

they agree to Ferguson's claim for an unequal fee division. What is in 

evidence is that the clients in the Underlying Matter specifically agreed to 

an equal fee division regardless of the proportion of services provided by 

their lawyers, and that they were satisfied with the settlement without the 

need to risk substantial additional client costs. 

The substantial performance doctrine of Taylor v. Shigaki, 84 Wn. 

App. 723, 930 P.2d 340, rvw. denied, 123 Wn.2d 1009 (1997), is 

inapplicable here. The Taylor doctrine deals with whether an attorney 

earns a contingent fee after a client fires her. RPC 1.5(c) specifically 

allows a contingent fee to be earned in disproportion to the services 

provided by the lawyers. 

There is no requirement in RPC 1.5(e)(l) that the fee agreement 

disclose Teller's obligation to pay costs in the litigation. This argument 
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was not presented either to the trial court or to the Court of Appeals. In 

any event, Teller performed. 

RPC 1.5(e)(l) does require "joint responsibility for the 

representation" as a whole including "financial and ethical responsibility." 

!d. at cmt. 7. Here, Teller and Ferguson were, by their fee agreement with 

their clients, jointly and severally liable for the malpractice of either 

lawyer. During the time Ferguson was not suspended from the practice of 

law, she was certainly responsible for complying with the Rules of 

Professional Conduct. She earned the non-proportional fee for her effmis 

while she was admitted. 

C. Ferguson's Waiver, Through Her Counsel, Of Certain Claims 
Should Not Be Reviewed. 

Ferguson was present in the trial court when Brian Waid, her 

lawyer, agreed to dismissal of her claim for breach of contract. There is 

nothing in the Report of Proceedings or the Clerk's Papers which indicates 

contemporaneous objection to this dismissal. Nor is there any indication 

that timely reconsideration of the dismissal was sought. Mr. Waid's 

conduct complied with CR 2A and Ferguson is bound by it. The Supreme 

Court authority cited by the Court of Appeals, Rivers v. Washington State 

Conference of Mason Contractors, 145 Wn.2d 674, 679, 41 P.3d 1175 
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(2002), is more recent than that cited by Ferguson, Graves v. P.J. 

Taggares Co., 94 Wn.2d 298, 303, 616 P.2d 1223 (1980). 8 

In any event, Ferguson's assertion about the trial comt's and her 

counsel's improper reading of Mazon v. Krafchick, 158 Wn.2d 440, 

144 P.3d 1168 (2006), fails scrutiny. 

Ferguson's claims for negligent misrepresentation and breach of 

contract against Teller were based on prospective fees, i.e., her idea of 

what the fees might have been had the clients chosen to go to trial rather 

than settle their case. 

In Hoglund v. Meeks, 139 Wn. App. 854, 170 P.3d 37 (2007), 

attorney Hoglund brought an action to assert a right to a greater share of a 

contingent fee above a base agreed to with his then co-counsel, 

Willingham. Attorney Meeks, who replaced Hoglund as counsel, was 

aware of Hoglund's agreement with Willingham. Meeks accepted the 

benefit of the agreement between Willingham and Hoglund, and remained 

silent without objecting to Hoglund's belief that Hoglund was entitled to a 

portion of the underlying litigation recovery. !d. at 873. The trial court 

found Meeks had demonstrated acceptance of Hoglund and Willingham's 

fee-sharing contract. 

8 Even under the Graves case, supra, Mr. Waid's dismissal of a claim was 
binding on Ferguson. With Ferguson in court, he represented that he had 
authority to dismiss a claim. Ferguson did not protest at that time. 
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Meeks argued it violated public policy for Hoglund to retain an 

interest in the contingent fee when he had withdrawn from the litigation, 

and relied on Mazon for this position. !d. at 874. The court determined 

Mazon did not support Meeks' argument. Here, Ferguson's argument 

appears to forget the fundamental factual basis of her own legal claims. 

Ferguson's claims were inescapably based on the ex post facto expression 

of her hopes for prospective fees at the time she agreed to split those fees 

with Teller 50/50. Her Complaint, CP 88-89, alleges that Teller 

negligently represented his intentions about litigating the underlying case 

to trial, and that he then breached the contract between them by settling 

the case rather than continuing to litigate it with Ferguson once her 

suspension was lifted. Thus, these claims are based on Ferguson's 

aspiration of what a verdict - prospective fees - might yield in terms of a 

contingent fee, as the Court of Appeals aptly summarized. 

Ferguson cannot escape the fact that the clients, as was their right, 

chose to settle. The lawyers had to abide by that decision. RPC 1.2(a). 

Mazon prohibits an attorney from a claim to recover lost prospective fees. 

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is consistent with Hoglund 

and Mazon. Ferguson's negligent misrepresentation and breach of 

contract claims were based on her notion of prospective fees; claims 

clearly prohibited as a matter of settled law. 
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D. No Material Facts Are Disputed. 

It was Ferguson who tendered to her clients the proposed fee 

agreement prepared by Teller. That Ferguson may have had other counsel 

prepared to mind her cases during her suspension is irrelevant as to 

whether she and Teller and their clients formed a contingent fee 

agreement. The e-mail evidence demonstrates that between Teller and 

Ferguson, Teller agreed to advance client costs. There can be no doubt 

that Teller fully performed: He advanced client costs as needed up 

through the time the clients chose to settle.9 CP 1110, 1072. 

E. There Was Consideration. 

The writings exchanged by Ferguson and Teller, and Ferguson and 

her lawyer, uniformly and without a doubt demonstrate that a contract 

between them and their clients was formed. Ferguson's Petition at pp.l6-

17 contends that Teller was obligated to advance additional costs for three 

expert witnesses before the "50/50" fee split could take effect. However, 

it was not necessary to do so because the clients chose to settle and avoid 

being potentially liable for reimbursing Teller for those advances. And no 

9 The clients would have assumed liability for greater costs had they not 
chosen to settle. And they would have incurred the risk of further 
litigation and, if successful, a larger contingent fee ( 45%) if the case 
proceeded to trial. CP 1071-72; 1123-1128. By settling when they did, it 
is reasonable to assume the clients determined they could each safely 
move on with their lives with less risk. They may have netted a greater 
amount of money in settlement from what might have been a larger gross 
recovery at trial. 
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such term is referenced in any of Ferguson's writings--even her private e-

mails to her lawyer do not claim the term "advance costs" actually meant 

"advance costs above a threshold number, or for specific experts, even if 

the clients want to settle before risking those costs." 

Teller was plainly obligated to advance the bulk of client costs. He 

did so. That the clients made a choice requiring fewer advances is 

irrelevant. It was the fact of Teller's obligation, not the amount of it, that 

constituted the consideration. Teller delivered on all of his obligations. 

IV. CONCLUSION. 

Teller, Ferguson and their clients formed an appropriate fee 

agreement which complied with RPC 1.5(e). Ferguson's own writings 

confirm the existence of that contract. She created a record on appeal 

which does not allow for review. Regardless, the facts in the record 

support the orders of the trial judge. 

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court. 

Review should be denied and Te~uld be allowed to submit a 

supplemental application for costs. '----
~,